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"

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENGY "

REGION 2 T8y
" In the Matter of* , : _ .
U.S. Department of Agriculture- . CONSENT AGREEMENT
Agricultural Research Service - AND FINAL ORDER
Tropical Agriculture Research Station Docket No. RCRA-02-2008-7505

— Mayaguez and Isabela, Puerto Rico

Respondent
Proceeding Under Section 9006
of the Solid Waste Disposal Act,
as amended.

This administrative proceeding was instituted pﬁrsuant to Section 9006 of the Solid
Waste Disposal Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §6901! et seq. and the Federal Facilities Cofnpliance
Act of 1992, 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et. seq (referred to collecti{fely as the "Act" or "RCRA").

The Complainant in this proceeding, the Director of the Division of Enforcement and
Complizince‘ Assistance, United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), Region 2
(“EPA” or “Complainant”), iésued a “Complaint, Complianﬁe Order, and Notice of Opportunity
for Heal*ing’; to the U.S. Depaftmeni of Agriculture (“USDA” or “Respondent™) on June 30,
2008 for alleged violations at its Tropical Agriculture Research Station located in Mayaguez and
Isabela, Puerto Rico. The Complaint alleged violations of the Act and the Commonwealth of
Puerto Rico’s approved regulations, called the “Puerto Rico Underground Storage Tank
Regulations™ (hereinafter “PRUSTR”) promuigated by the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico
Environmental Quality Board pursuant to the Puérto Rico Public Policy Environmental Act of '
1970. (The Commonwealth of Puerto Rico received approval for its underground storage tank

program on January 30, 1998)



The Complainant and Respondent have reached an amicable resolution of this matter and

agree, by entering into this Consent Agreement and Final Order (“CA/FO”) pursuant to the

Consolidated Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative Assessment of Civil Penalties and

the Revocation/Termihation or Suspension of Permits (“Consolidated Rules™), 40 C.F.R. Part 22,

including, specifically, 22.18(b)(2) and (3), that séttlement of this matter upon the terms set forth

in this CA/FO is an appropriate means of resolving this case without further litigation.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Respondent is a department, agency or instrumentality of the executive bran.ch of the
federal government.

Respondent is a "person” within the meaning of Section 9001(5) of the Act, 42 U.S.C.

§ 6991(5), and Rule 105 of PRUSTR.

Fdr all times relevant to the allegations set forth in the Complaint, Respondent “owned”
and/or “operated” the “underground storage ta11k§” (“UST”) systems, as those terms are
defined in Section 9001 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6991, and in Rule 105 of PRUSTR, that
are located at the Tropical Agricultural Research Station (;‘TARS’;) at 2200 Pedro Al.b.izu-
Campos Ave., Mayaguez, Puerto Rico 00680 (the “Mayagiiez Facility”) and at the TARS
Expeﬁmental Farm in the Barrio Guerrero, Sector El Caﬁ'on, Isabela, Puerto Rico 00662
(the “Isabela Facility”) (hereinafter both facilities are collectively referred to as the
“Facilities”j. A

On or about Apfil 18, 2007, pursuant to Section 9005 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6991d;
representatives of EPA (“EPA Representatives”) inspected the Facilities (the

“Inspection). The purpose of this inspection was in part to determine the Respondent’s
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10.

compliance with the Act and Rules iﬁ Parts 1 through 12 of PRUSTR.

During the Inspection and for all time periods relevant to the allegations set forth in the
Cofnplaint, all UST Systems at the Facilities have stored either diesel fuél or gasoline for
use in vehicles, and thus have been and remain sub;j e@t to the UST requirements set forth
at the Rules in Parts 1 through 12 of PRUSTR.

During the Inspection and for all time periods relevant to the allegations set forth in the |
Complaint, all of the UST systems at the Facilities were “petroleum UST systems” as that
term is defined in Rule 105 of PRUSTR.

On or about July 20, 2007, EPA sent Respondent one letter containing the following
attachments: one Information Request Letter (“IRL™) for each of ﬁhe Facilities and one
Notice of Viélation (“NOV”) for each of the Facilities.

EPA’s Information Request Letters sought general information about the USTsl owned
and/or operated by the Respondent at the Facilities, as well as information about any
actions taken to correct the violations, and to prevent recurrence of the violations
identified in the NOVs. EPA’s NOV.s listed UST violations that had been identiﬁéd by
EPA during the Inspection. |

On or about September 24, 2007 , Respondent submitted to EPA a response to the NOVs

and Information Request Letters. In addition, on or about February 29, 2008, Respondent

submitted to EPA a follow-up response (collectively referred to as the “Respondent’s

Responses™).
Based on the inspection by EPA and Respondent’s Résponses, the Complaint alleged that
Respondent committed the following violations at the Facilities:

Failure to provide corrosion protection for steel piping in contact with the ground in



* violation of Rule 201 (B) of PRUSTR.

(i) Failure to conduct release detection in violation of Rule 402(A) of PRUSTR or to .
maintain the results of release detection in violation of Rule 305(B)(4), Rule 305(C),
and Rule 406 of PRUSTR.

(iii)  Failure to perform a line tightnéss test or use a monthly monitbr'mg release detection
method for the piping in violation of Rule 402 (B) of PRUSTR or to maintain the
results of release detection for the piping in vi.olation of Rule 305(B)(4), Rule 305(C),
and Rule 406 of PRUSTR.

11, Respondent has informed EPA that it has removed all gasoline and diesel from the two
(2) USTs at the Mayaguez Facility and complied with the temporary closure
requirements of Rule 701 of PRUSTR. Respondent has further informed EPA that
Respondent has awarded a contract for the permanent closure (including a site
asscssrnént) of those USTs as provided in Rules 702 through 705 of PRUSTR.
Respondent has also agreed to award a contract, within six (6) months df the effective |

date of this CA/FO, for the removal of the two (2) USTs at the Isabela Facility.

CONSENT AGREEMENT

| Based upon the foregoing, and pursuant to Secﬁoﬁ 9006 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6991e,
and 40 CF.R. § 22.18 of the Conso]idzﬁed Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative
Assessment of Civil Penalties and the Revocation or Suspension of Permiits, the parties hereby
agree, as follows: |
1. Respondcntj admits the juris_dictibnal basis of this action and neither admits nor denies the

Findings of Fact and Coﬁclusions of Law set forth above. - Respondent agrees not to
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contest EPA’s jurisdiction with respect to the execution of this Consent Agreement, the
issuatice of the attached Finél Otder, or the enforcement of the CAFO.

'Respondent consents to.the payment of a civil penalty as set forth in this Consent
Agreement and agrees to comply with the compliance pro{/isions of this Consent
Agreement, and to its conditions.

This Consent Agreement and Final Order shall not relieve Respondent from its

continuing obligation to comply with all applicable provisions of federal, Commonwealth

~ or local énvironmental laws.
Respondent shall pay, by cashier’s or certified check or by Electronic Fund Transfer
- (EFT), a civil penalty for settlement of the violations described above, in the amount of
thirty thousand dollars (§30,000.00). If the payment is made by check, then the
payment shall be made to the “Treasurer of the United States of America” and shall be
mailed to:
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Fines and Penalties
Cincinnati Finance Center
PO Box 979077
St. Louis, MO 63197-9000

The check shall be identified with a notation of both the name and ‘docket number of this

case as: In the Matter of the UU.S. Department of Agriculture- Agricultural Research

Service - Tropical Agriculture Research Station — Mayaguez and [sabela, Puerto Rico,

Docket Number RCRA-02-2008-7505. The payment must be received at the above -

address on or before sixty (60) calendar days after the date of signature of the Final Order
at the end of this document (the “due date™).

a)  If Respondent chooses to make the payment by EFT, then Respondent
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shall provide the fbllowing information to its remit_ter bank:

1) Amount of Payment

2) SWIFT address: FRNYUS33, 33 leerty Street, New York, NY 10045.

3) Account Code for Federal Reservc Bank of New York receiving payment:
68010727.

4) Federal Reserve Bank of New York ABA routing number: 021030004,

5) Field Tag 4200 of the Fedwire message should read “D 68010727
Environmental Protection Agency.”

6) Name of Respondent: In the Matter of the U.S. Department of Agriculture-
Agricultural Research Service - Tropical Agriculture Research Statlon —

Mayaguez and lsabela, Puerto Rico
7) Case Number: RCRA-02-2008-7505.

Such EFT must be received on or before sixty (60) calendar days after the
Effective Date of this CA/FO.
b. Whether the payment is made by check br by ETF, Respondent promptly
thereafter furnish reasonable proof that such
payment has been made to-both:
Rudolph Perez
Assistant Regional Counsel, U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency
290. Broadway, 16™ Floor
New York, New York, 10007-1866
And
Karen Maples =~
Regional Hearing Clerk
Environmental Protection Agency
290 Broadway, 16™ Floor
New York, New York, 10007-1866
c. Failure to pay the amount in full within the time period set forth above
will result in further action for collection or other appropriate action.
d Further, if timely payment is not received on or before the due date, a late

paymeht handling éharge of $15.00 will be assessed for each thirty (30) day

—6—



period, or any portion thereof, following the due date in which the balance
remains unpaid.
€. The effective date of this Consent Agreement and Final Order shall be the _
date of its filing with the Regional Hearing Clerk, Region 2, New York, New

* York.
f. The civil penalty constitutes a penalty within the meaning of 26 U.S.C,
§ 162(f).

Compliance Provisions

To the extent it has not already done so, Respbndent shail:

i) Achievé compliance, within thirty (30) calendar days after the Regional
Administrator’s signature of the Final Order, and maintain compliance with all applicable
provi.sions Qf PRUSTR at the Isabela Facility, including: (2) providing corrosion
protection for steel piping in contact with the ground as required by Rulle 201 (B) of
PRUSTR; (b) conducting release detection as rcq_uired by R.ule 402(A) of PRUSTR and
maintaining the results of release detection as required by Rule 305(B)(4), Rule 305(C),
and Rule 406 of PRUSTR; and (c) performing a line tightness test at least every three (3)
years, or using a monthly monitoring release detection method for the piping as required
by Rule 402 (B) of PRUSTR and maintaining the results for the piping as required by
Rule 305(B)(4), Rule 305(C), and Rulé 406 of PRUSTR.

ii) Within six (6) rﬁonths after the Regional Administrator’s signature of the Final Order,
execute a contract for the removal and proper ciosuxe in acco;dance with PRUSTR
(including Rules 702 (Permanent Closure) and 703 (Site Assessment) of PRUSTR), of

" the two (2) USTs at the Isabela Facility. Within two (2) months after the award of the
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contract, submit to the Puerto Rico Environmental Quality Board (“EQB”) a request for
approval to remove the two (2) USTs at the Isabela Facility and promptly remedy any
deficiencies in the request identified by EQB. Within two (2) nionths of submitting to
EQB the request for approval to remove the two (2) USTs and every two (2) months
thereafter until the two (2) USTs are per_manently closed, Respondent shall subfnit to
EPA a written report on the status of its efforts to permanently close the two (2) USTs at
the Isa.bel‘a Facility. Within two (2) months of reéeiving any necessary approval from
EQB, initiate field work for permanent closure (including site assessment) of the two (2)
USTs at the Isabela Facility.
iii} Within fifteen (15) calendar 'days after the Regional Administrator’s signature of the
Final Order, submit records documenting compliance with paragraph 5(a) (i), including
compiiance with Rules 201 (B), 402(A), 305(B)(4), Rule 305(C), and Rule 406 of
PRUSTR at the Isabela Facility. Within seven (7) months after Respondent executes a
contract for the removal and proper closure of the 2.(two) USTs at the Isabela Facility,
submit records documenting such contract.
iv) Within two (2) months after; the permanent closure of the two (2) USTs ‘at the Isabela
Facility is completed, submit to EPA records documenting compliance with Rules 702
(Permanent Closure) and 703 (Site Assessment) of PRUSTR.
- v) Not use the two (2) USTs at the Mayaguez Facility unless Respondent complies with
'all applicable provisions of PRUSTR, inciuding compliance with Rules 201 (B), 402(A),
305(B)(4), Rule 305(C), and Rule 406.of PRUSTR. Within sixty (60) calendar days after
the Regional Administrator’s signature of the Final Order and every sfxty (60) calendar
days thereafier until the two (2) USTs are permanently closed, Respondent shall submit
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to BPA a written report on the status of its efforts to permanently close the two (2) USTs

at the Mayaguez Facility. Within thirty (30) days after Respondent has permanently

closed the two (2) USTs at the Mayaguez facility, Respondént shall submit to EPA

records documenting cp.mpiiance with Rules 702 (Permanent Closure) and 703 (Sité

Assessment) of PRUSTR.

vi) Comply with any future EPA requests, pursuant to Section 9005 and/or 46 CF.R.

§ 280.34, for information relating to any or all of the UST systems owned and/or

.. operated by the USDA Agricultural Research Service, Tropical Agricultural Reseafch

Station in Puerto Rico.

vii) In all documents and reports submitted to EPA pursuant to this CA/FO, Respondent

shall, by an authorized officer, certify under penalty of law that the information contained

| in such document or report is true, accurate and not misleading, by including and signing

the following statemént:
I certify thai, to the best of my knowledge and belief, thé information contained in
this written _certiﬁcation and in any documents accompanying this certiﬁcatipn is
true, accurate and complete. In making this statement, I have not made an
independent review of all statements contained therein and have relied in good
Jfaith on information, statements,, and representations furnished ro me by
employees and contractors of the-U.S. Department of Agriculture. Based on my
inéuiry of the person or persons (or tke supervisofs of such persons) directly

responsible for gathering the information contained in this written certification .

and in any é’ocﬁments accompanying this ceftiﬁcbtion, this document is, to the
best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate and complete. I am aware that
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there are significant potential penaliie.s' Jor submitting materially false
information, including the possibility of fines and imprisonment for knowing
violations.
Respondent shall submit copies of any communications or reports with respect to the
Compliance Provisions of this CA/FO to:
Charles Zafonte . _
Multimedia Enforcement Coordinator .
Compliance Assistance & Program Support Branch
Division of Enforcement and Compliance Assistance
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2
290 Broadway, 21st Floor
New York, N.Y. 10007-1866
If Respondent fails to submit the records as required by paragraph 5 (a) (ii) (iii), (iv), and

- (vii) above, it shall pay a stipulated penalty for each day that it fails to submit this report

as follows:
Period of
Failure to Comply Penalty Per Day Per Violation
1" to 10™ calendar day ‘ © $100
11" to 30" calendar day $300
31-to 60 calendar days $500
Each day in excess of 60 calendar days - $1000

If the parties to this Consent Agreement agree that delay or noncompliance has been dr
will be ca;used by events, conditions, or circumstances entirely beyond the control of
Respondent and if the parties to this Consent Agreement further agiee that Respondent
could not havg prevented such delay or noncompliance by the exercise of due diligence,
the time. for performance of such requirement shall be extended for a period not to exceed

the actual delay resulting from such circumstances and stipulated penalties for such delay
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or noncompliance shall not accrue for such period. Resﬁondent shall bear the burden of
proving to EPA by a preponde;ance of the evidence, through a written submission to
EPA, that any delay was caused by circumstances entirely beyond the control of
Respondent and that Respondent could not have prevented such delay by the exercise of
due diligence. In the c.:v'ent that EPA doc;_s not agree that a delay has been or will be
caused by circumstances beyond the control of Respondent, EPA will notify Respondent _
in writing of its decision. |
Complé.inant may, in her sole discretion, reduce or eliminate any stipulated penalty due if
Respondent hés in writing demonstrated. to EPA’s satisfaction good cause for such action
by EPA. If, after review of Respondént’s submiséion, Complainant determines that
Respondent has failed to comply with the provisions of this.Conseﬁt Agreement, and
Complainant does not, in her sqle discretion, eliminate the stipulated penalties demanded
by EPA, Complainant will notify Responaent, i‘n writing, that either the full stipulated
penalty or a reduced stipulated penalty must be paid by the Respondent. Réspondent
shall pay the stipulated penalty amount indicated in EPA’s notice within thirty (30)
calendar days of its receipt of such written notice from EPA. Any penalty owed pursuant
" to this parégraph shall be paid in accordance with the instructions set forth in paragraph,
“4” of the Consent Agreement, above. Failure to pay the stipulated penalty in full will
result in further action for ‘collection or other appropn'.ate action. o
This Consent Agreement is being voluntarily and knowingly; entered into by Respondent
and EPA to resolve (upon full payment of the civil penalty and any stipﬁlated penalty that
comes due) Respondent’s liability pursuant to Section 9006 for civil penalties for the

violations of federal UST requirements speciﬁcally alleged in the Complaint issued in
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10.

11.

12.

14.

15.

this case. Respondent has read the foregoing Consent Agreement, understands its terms,
finds it té be reasonable and consents to the issuance of the accompanying Final Order.
The parties agree that all terms of settlement are set forth herein. Nothing herein shall be-
read to preclude EPA or the United States, however, from pursuing appropriate injunctive
or other eq.uitable relief or criminal sanctions for any violations of law.

Respondent hereby waives its right to req;uest or to seek any Hearing on any of the terms

of this Consent Agreement or the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law herein, or on

* the accompanying Final Order.

Respondent waives any rights it may have pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.8 to be present
during discussions with or to be served with and to reply to any memorandum or
communication addfessed to the Regional AdJr'li.nistrator, the Deputy Regional
Administrator or the Regional Judicial Officer where the purpose of such discussion,
memorandum, or communication is to discuss a propbsed settlement of this matter or to |
recommend that such official accept this Consent Agreement and issue the attached Final
Order.

Respondent certifies that he or éhe is duly and fully authorized to enter into and ratify this
Consent Agreement and all the terms and conditions set fofth in this Consent Agreement.
Each party hereto aérees to bear its own costs and fees in this matter.

Nothing in this Consent Agréement shall be interpreted to require obligation or payment
of funds in violation of the Anti-Deficiency Act, 31 U.S.C. §1341, or other applicable
law. | |
Respondent consents to service upon Respondent of a copy of this CA/FO by an EPA

employee other than the Regional Hearing Clerk.
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16.  This Cénsent Agreement and any provision herein shall not be construed as an admission
of liability in any criminal or civil action or other administrative or legal proceeding,
except one to enforce the terms of this CA/FO.

17. Nothing in this document is-intended or shall be construed to be a ruling on or
determination of any issue related to a federal or Commonwealth permit.

18.  EPA reserves the right to commence action against any person, including Respondent, in
response to any condition which EPA determines may present an imminent and
substantial endangerment to the public health, public welfare, or the environment. In
addition, this settlement is subject to all limitations oﬁ the scope of resolution and to the
resérvaiion of right set forth in 40 C.F.R. §22.18(c). Further, EPA reserves any rights
and remedies available to it under RCRA, the regulations promulgated there under, and
any other federal laws or regulations for which' EPA has jurisdiction, to enforce the
provisions of this CAFO, following its filing with the Regional Hearing Clerk. |
Respondeny reserves all ayailable righté and defenses it may have, consistent with the
terms of this CA/FO, to defend itself in any such action. |

19.  The provi‘sion.s of this Consent Agreement shall be binding upoﬁ Respondent, its

officials, authorized representatives and successors or assigns and upon Complainant.

RESPONDENT:

o, And b, W

Name: €le‘r&b B . /(L//)OL/)JQ:

Title: ADMINISTRATOR, ARS

DATE: 0//’7/0?
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U.S. Department of Agriculture- Agriculigral Research Service - Tropical Agriculture

Research Station — Mavaguez and Isabela, Puerto Rico
Docket Number RCRA-02-2008-7505

COMPLAINANT: BY: ~

DoreN_aPostgs/Director
" Divisiorof Enforcement and Compliance Assistance

'U.S. Environmental Protection Agency -
Region 2

DATE:____ Jonge 2 2209
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U.S. Department of Agricultare- Agricultural Research Service - T ropiéal Agriculture

Research Station — Mayaguez 'a_nd Isabela, Puerto Rico
Docket Number RCRA-02-2008-7505

FINAL ORDER

The Regional Administrator (or anybne duly delegated to act on his behalf) of the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2, concurs in the foregoing Consent Agreement in the
case of In the Matter of the U.S. Department of Agﬁculture- Agricultural Research Service -
Tropical Agriculture Research Station — Mayaguez and Isabela, Puerto Rico, Docket Number
RCRA-02-2008-7505 . The Consent Agreement, having been duly accepted and entered into by
the parties to this matter, is hereby ratified, and incorporated into this Final Ofder, which is
hereby issued and shall take effect when filed with the Regional Hearing Clerk of EPA, Region
2. 40 C.F.R. Section 22.31(b). This Final Order is being entered pursuant to the authority of 40

C.F.R. Section 22.18(b)(3) and shall constitute an order issued under authority of Section 9006

George Pa%lou —

Acting Regional Administrator

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency -
Region 2
1290 Broadway

New York, New York 10007-1866

DATE._ ¢f30l09
(390

of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. Section 6991e.
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U.S. Department of Agriculture- Agricultural Research Service - Tropical Agriculture
Research Station — Mayaguez and Isabela, Puerto Rico

Docket Number RCRA-02-2008-7505

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I have caused to be sent the foregoing CONSENT AGREEMENT and its
accompanying FINAL ORDER bearing the above referenced docket number, in the following
manner to the respective addressees listed below:

Original and One Copy
by Hand: William Moran
Administrative law Judge
Office of Administrative law Judges
U. S. Environmental Protection Agency
Mail Code 1900L
1200 Pennsylvania Ave., NW, Suite 350
Washington, DC 20005

- Copy by
Certified Mail/ Kirk Minckler
Return Receipt Requested: USDA Office of the General Counsel

740 Simms Street, Room 309
Golden, CO 80401-4720

Original and One Copy
by Hand: Karen Maples
Office of Regional Hearing Clerk
U. S. Environmental Protection Agency
Region 2
290 Broadway, 16" Floor
New York, NY 10007-1866

Dated: __ JUL =2 2009 W - fhas

New York, New York



